STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

02-07-2017

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 15AP1261

NAVDEEP S. BRAR,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON APRIL 3, 2015 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, BRANCH I, THE HONORABLE JOHN W. MARKSON PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Respectfully submitted,

NAVDEEP S. BRAR, Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

BY: TRACEY A. WOOD State Bar No. 1020766

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. A NON-NATIVE ENGLISH SPEAKING DRIVER HAS NOT CONSENTED TO A BLOOD DRAW BY MAKING EITHER AN UNINTELLIGIBLE STATEMENT OR BY SAYING THE WORDS "OF COURSE" FOLLOWED BY A QUESTION AS TO WHETHER THE OFFICER NEEDED A WARRANT.
 - A. The words "of course" were never used.
 - B. Even if the words "of course" were used, those words do not establish consent.
- II. BRAR'S CONSENT WAS INVOLUNTARILY OBTAINED BY OFFICER WOOD'S MISLEADING INDICATION THAT HE DID NOT NEED A WARRANT TO OBTAIN A SAMPLE OF BRAR'S BLOOD.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has indicated that both oral argument and publication are appropriate in this matter.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On July 2, 2014, Officer Michael Wood arrested Appellant-Petitioner Navdeep Singh Brar for operating while intoxicated. (42:5.) Officer Wood transported Brar to the Middleton Police Department. (42:6.) Officer Wood read Brar the Informing the Accused Form ("ITAF") required by Wis. Stat. §343.305(4). (42:6.) After some discussion about the form, Officer Wood concluded that Brar consented to a blood test. (42:8.) Officer Wood then transported Brar to a hospital for a blood draw, and the blood was subsequently drawn. (42:8.) On August 6, 2014, Respondent charged Brar by criminal complaint with operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, contrary to Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(a); and operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration, contrary to Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(b). (4:1–2.) The Dane County Circuit Court entered not guilty pleas on Brar's behalf. (39:1.)

Brar moved the court to suppress the results of his blood test for lack of consent. (19:1–2.) The lower court initially denied the motion without a hearing. (41:2.) Brar submitted a written response, asking the court to reconsider. (Id.) After discussion, the lower court agreed with Brar that an evidentiary hearing was required. (41:9.) On December 23, 2014, the parties appeared for an evidentiary hearing, the Honorable John W. Markson presiding. (42:1.) Officer Wood was the State's only witness. (42:2.) The court received two exhibits. (*Id.*) First, the court received Exhibit 1 – the ITAF used in this case. (25:1.) Second, the court received Exhibit 2 – an audiovisual recording of Brar's conversation with Officer Wood. (25:2.) Exhibit 2 contains the entirety of the conversation leading up to the moment Officer Wood concluded that he had obtained consent. (Id.)

On direct examination, Officer Wood testified that he read the ITAF to Brar. (42:6.) The form's ultimate question is: "Will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood?" (42:6–7.) Brar asked for Officer Wood's advice about what he should do. (42:14.) Officer Wood properly declined to give legal advice and re-read a portion of the form. (25:2.) Officer Wood ended this partial re-reading by asking a slightly different version of the ultimate question on the ITAF and did not specify what type of chemical test he sought. (Id.) This second time, the officer asked, "Will you submit to the test – yes or no please?" (Id.)

Officer Wood testified to Brar's response, stating that Brar's response was, "Of course." (Id.) Respondent then played the audiovisual recording for the court. (42:14.) Officer Wood testified, "When asked if [Mr. Brar] would take the test or not, he says: Of

course, I don't want my license – and then it's hard to tell what he is saying, but I believe it was he does not want his license to be revoked." (Id.) Officer Wood could only clearly hear the word "license." (42:18.) Without a break, Brar asked, "what type of test was going to be done?" (42:14; 25:2.) Officer Wood replied, "a test of your blood." (Id.) Brar then asked whether Officer Wood needed a warrant for a blood test. (42:15.) Officer Wood replied in the negative by shaking his head. (Id.) This was the point at which Officer Wood concluded that he had obtained consent for the blood draw. (42:20-21)

Officer Wood testified that he had no other indication of Brar's affirmative consent. (42:16.) Also, only the audiovisual recording reflects the timing, manner, and inflections of the questions and answers between Brar and Officer Wood. (25:2.) Notably, the court reporter noted the CD as "unintelligible to reporter, unable to make record." (42:12-15.) A private court reporter was able to reconstruct a transcript. That was as follows:

> OFFICER WOOD: Will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood? MR. BRAR: (inaudible) testing. OFFICER WOOD: It's yes or not? MR. BRAR: No, it's (inaudible). OFFICER WOOD: It is. It's – the question in front of you is this, will you submit –

MR. BRAR: No, I (inaudible) listening. I don't know the law. I don't know the law. No more elaborate. Tell me it's a violation. OFFICER WOOD: If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you'll be subject to other penalties. Will you take the test, yes or no, please? MR. BRAR: So I have no other option (inaudible). OFFICER WOOD: The situation is up to you. MR. BRAR: No, I'm asking you. OFFICER WOOD: I told you, the choice is up to you. MR. BRAR: Nobody read me these questions before in my life. OFFICER WOOD: Will you submit to the test, yes or no, please? MR. BRAR: (Inaudible) want my like (inaudible). Why read a complicated question? What kind of test you are going to do? OFFICER WOOD: A test of your blood. MR. BRAR: Why do you have to take a warrant for that, don't you? OFFICER WOOD: Take what, I'm sorry? MR. BRAR: A warrant. **OFFICER WOOD: A warrant?** MR. BRAR: Yeah. You need a warrant for that (inaudible). Without that (inaudible) offending, I don't know. (Inaudible) you know it. (Inaudible) challenging you. (Pause) MR. BRAR: May I? Talk to my lawyer.

(26:1-2 or 26:8-10).

The trial court adopted the officer's view of what Brar must have said, but disregarded all statements after the alleged "of course" phrase and disregarded the officer's admission that he did not believe he had consent until after Brar asked if the officer needed a warrant. (42: 21.) Because this recording is so important to this case, Appellant-Petitioner respectfully requests this Court listen to it. (Id.) Officer Wood never testified to the ease or difficulty of his communication with Brar. However, the audiovisual recording clearly reflects Brar's very strong Indian accent. (Id.) At various points in the conversation, both the officer and Brar each required the other to clarify what the other meant to say. (Id.)

On cross-examination, Officer Wood agreed that Brar's sentence did not start and end with the words "of course." (42:19.) The officer admitted, "It's hard to understand him." (42:18.) He agreed that Brar continued to speak after he said "of course" without any significant pauses. (Id.) Immediately thereafter, Brar asked what type of test it would be. (Id.) Officer Wood replied that it would be a blood test. (Id.) Officer Wood agreed that Brar then asked, "Don't you need a warrant for that?" (Id.) The officer shook his head "no" to indicate a warrant was not required. (42:15) On both direct and cross-examination, Officer Wood spent an appreciable period of time testifying to his interpretation of the recording as it was played in court, rather than his natural recollection. (42:4–24.) Officer Wood filled in the "yes" on the ITAF on Brar's behalf and printed the form "during [the same] general time frame" as the discussion regarding the search warrant. (42:21.)

Brar appears to comment that Officer Wood asked him "a complicated question." (25:2.) However, Officer Wood on cross-examination did not remember the exact words Brar used.

Q: Would you agree that it sounds like he said, "of course that is a complicated question"? A: To me, "of course" that he states, is obvious. After that, to me, listening to the tape, I thought he states, he mumbles, then there is a pause, and then license, from there.

Q: Can you describe what you heard there?A: To me it sounds like he states "of course" and then I don't want ...Q: I thought it said that was a complicated question. Would you say that was a fair interpretation?A: I thought I heard him say, "of course," and then "I don't want", and he mumbles, and then he trails off.

(42:18-19.)

The lower court adopted the State's argument that Brar's use of the phrase "of course" proved his consent to a blood draw. (42:47.) The lower court found the officer's testimony credible. (42:46.) The court wondered aloud: "[W]hat do we make of his reference to 'do you need a warrant for that' when he finds out, and it's affirmed, that he is going to be taken for a blood test? That is open to some interpretation, I grant that." (42:48.) The lower court concluded that the officer "did not need a warrant for that, because Brar had just consented." (42:49.) The lower court then attempted to shield its ruling from appellate review by finding "as a matter of fact that Brar did give consent." (Id.) The court again said, "I do respectfully make the finding of fact that there was actual consent." (42:50.) The lower court brought up the point a third time at plea and sentencing. (43:15.) "I was trying to make a reasoned determination of whether he consented or not. But once I had done that, that's a factual determination. It's a determination that the court of appeals needs to defer to. They cannot substitute their interpretation of the evidence for mine." (Id.)

Brar moved the lower court to reconsider, submitting with the motion a professionally enhanced version of the audio from Exhibit 2. (26). The defense noted that it was still not possible to distinguish every word of what was said. (Id.) The court reporter marked several comments as unintelligible. However, the transcript sheds some light on the true character of the exchange. (Id.) The words "of course" appear nowhere in this transcript. (Id.) Neither Officer Wood nor Brar made himself clearly understood to the other. Each required clarification of certain things said by the other. (Id.) The motion to reconsider was denied. (42:50.)

On April 3, 2015, Brar entered a plea and filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief. (35:1; 34:2.) Judge Markson stayed penalties pending appeal. (43:17.) Brar then appealed from the lower court's order denying his motion to suppress. (37:2.)

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, agreeing with the court that Brar voluntarily consented and, because he consented, no warrant was required. The Court's decision did not address Brar's argument that the trial court's finding that Brar consented was erroneous because the trial court relied only on the officer's memory. The officer relied upon his faulty memory of what Brar said when the tape showed that, in reality, Brar never said "of course" during his conversation with the officer. The Court of Appeals' decision did not indicate that the Court had listened to the tape to determine whether improper reliance was placed on the officer's testimony as opposed to the recording of Brar's actual statements. The Court of Appeals' decision also did not address Brar's contention that his inquiry about a warrant was part of an ongoing conversation about whether Brar should consent or not, and that any alleged consent could not have been given until after that conversation was complete.

Brar filed a Petition for Review to this Court, and this Court agreed to hear the case.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals' decision and remand with instructions to the trial court to grant Mr. Brar's suppression motion for three reasons. First, Brar did not say "of course" to indicate his consent to a blood draw. Second, law enforcement officers cannot manufacture consent by divorcing certain words from their context. Brar's incidental use of the words "of course" (assuming this Court determines those words were even said) is insufficient to prove by clear and convincing evidence that he consented. Third, Officer Wood improperly obtained Brar's cooperation with the blood draw by misleading Brar into believing that a warrant would not be necessary.

At the outset, Appellant-Petitioner notes that this case has very little to do with the implied consent law. However, as Judge Blanchard observed in the *Padley¹* case, Wisconsin's implied consent law *can* be the vehicle by which a law enforcement officer obtains actual consent. *Id.* at ¶25 ("[A]ctual consent to a blood draw is . . . a possible result of requiring the driver to choose whether to consent under the implied consent law.") Thus, contrary to the

¹ *State v. Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867, <u>review</u> <u>denied</u>, 2014 WI 122, 855 N.W.2d 695

State's arguments in the court below, the implied consent law "does not mean that police may require a driver to submit to a blood draw." *Id*. The issue is not whether Brar *withdrew* his consent. The issue is whether he *provided* his consent.

"Courts use two steps in reviewing a determination of voluntariness of consent to a search: whether there was consent, and whether it was voluntarily given." *Id.* at ¶63. The State bears the burden of proving by clear and positive evidence the search was the result of a free, intelligent, unequivocal and specific consent without any duress or coercion, actual or implied. *Id.* at ¶64.

Standard of review.

Whether there is probable cause or reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle is a question of constitutional fact. State v. Mitchell, 167 Wis.2d 672, 684, 482 N.W.2d 364 (1992); State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 18, 241 Wis.2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. A finding of constitutional fact consists of the circuit court's findings of historical fact, which we review under the "clearly erroneous standard." and the application of these historical facts to constitutional principles, which we review de novo. <u>Id., ¶¶ 18–19.</u>

State v. Popke, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569 (2009).

Moreover, trial courts cannot shield rulings from appellate

review by characterizing legal conclusions as factual findings.

I. A NON-NATIVE ENGLISH SPEAKING DRIVER HAS NOT CONSENTED TO A BLOOD DRAW BY MAKING EITHER AN UNINTELLIGIBLE STATEMENT OR BY SAYING THE WORDS "OF COURSE" FOLLOWED BY A QUESTION AS TO WHETHER THE OFFICER NEEDED A WARRANT.

A. The words "of course" were never used.

Brar has continually disputed Officer Wood's belief that Brar said "of course…" when asked if he would submit to the blood draw. The circuit court adopted Officer Wood's version, but to the extent that version can even be characterized as a factual finding, those findings are clearly erroneous and not supported by the record. More importantly, a finding of consent can never be a factual finding.

Importantly, the court's own reporter did not hear the words "of course," nor did a separate court reporter who prepared a transcript of the audio at the request of the defense. (42:12-15; 26:4-10.) To conclude that words establishing an exception to the Fourth Amendment were uttered when no transcript establishes that to be the case, and when the officer was not even sure exactly what was said, is an erroneous conclusion.

The trial court reporter reported the entire audio of the exchange between Brar and the officer as "unintelligible to reporter, unable to make record." (42:12-15.)

19

The private court reporter reported the exchange as follows:

OFFICER WOOD: Will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood? MR. BRAR: (inaudible) testing. OFFICER WOOD: It's yes or not? MR. BRAR: No, it's (inaudible). OFFICER WOOD: It is. It's - the question in front of you is this, will you submit -MR. BRAR: No, I (inaudible) listening. I don't know the law. I don't know the law. No more elaborate. Tell me it's a violation. OFFICER WOOD: If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you'll be subject to other penalties. Will you take the test, yes or no, please? MR. BRAR: So I have no other option (inaudible). OFFICER WOOD: The situation is up to you. MR. BRAR: No, I'm asking you. OFFICER WOOD: I told you, the choice is up to you. MR. BRAR: Nobody read me these questions before in my life. OFFICER WOOD: Will you submit to the test, yes or no, please? MR. BRAR: (Inaudible) want my like (inaudible). Why read a complicated question? What kind of test you are going to do? OFFICER WOOD: A test of your blood. MR. BRAR: Why do you have to take a warrant for that, don't you? OFFICER WOOD: Take what, I'm sorry? MR. BRAR: A warrant. **OFFICER WOOD: A warrant?** MR. BRAR: Yeah. You need a warrant for that (inaudible). Without that (inaudible) offending, I don't know. (Inaudible) you know it. (Inaudible) challenging you. (Pause) MR. BRAR: May I? Talk to my lawyer.

(26:8-10.)

Since the audio recording is part of the appellate record, this Court can draw its own conclusions as to whether Brar said "of course." Because the recording establishes that Brar never said "of course," the circuit court's finding to the contrary is clearly erroneous, and no basis remains for the legal conclusion that Brar consented to a blood draw. Furthermore, the trial court's deference to the police officer's testimony as to what he was hearing in court when the tape was played. (42:4-24).

B. Even if the words "of course" were used, those words do not establish consent.

The Supreme Court has set forth an objective test for determining whether a person has consented to a Fourth Amendment search. *Florida v. Jimeno*, 500 U.S. 248, 251, 111 S. Ct. 1801, 114 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1991). That is: "[W]hat would the typical reasonable person have understood by the exchange between the officer and the suspect?" *Id.* at 251. Again, this test embraces the totality of the circumstances–not just the one that is favorable to the government. *Padley, supra* at ¶64. Here, a reasonable bystander would understand that Brar had not consented at the time he allegedly said the words "of course." Brar had questions about the type of test requested of him and about whether the officer would need a warrant. When one party in a negotiation is still asking questions and does not understand the terms, the deal is not done.

Standing alone, "of course" is an affirmative response. But Brar never used the words "of course" standing alone. If the words were used at all, they were immediately followed by more words. Officer Wood admitted on cross-examination that he could not really hear anything about a license being revoked after "of course." (42:18-19.) The officer testified: "I thought I heard him say, "of course," and then I don't want, and he mumbles, and then he trails off." (42:18-19.)

Thus, the officer clarified that Brar never said "of course, I don't want to lose my license." What he said, according to the officer, was "of course I don't want." (42: 14, 18, 19). If that was what Brar said, it would be more reasonable to interpret it as a rejection of the blood test. Any factual finding by the trial court to the contrary, as noted above, was clearly erroneous. Even if the version the officer testified to on direct was accurate, the subsequent words objectively and unmistakably altered the meaning of the antecedent "of course." One dictionary provides five distinct uses or meanings for the phrase "of course." Each conveys something different from the other.

> 1. Used for saying "yes" very definitely, in answer to a question. *"Do you know what I mean?" "Of course."*

2. Used for giving someone permission in a polite way.

"May I come in?" "Of course you may."

- 3. Used for agreeing or disagreeing with someone. "They won't mind if we're a bit late." "Of course they will."
- 4. <u>Used for saying something that you think</u> <u>someone probably already knows or will not be</u> <u>surprised about.</u> *"I will, of course, make sure you're all kept fully informed." "He found out in the end, of course."*
- 5. Used when you have just realized something. *"Of course! Now I understand."*

(http://www.macmillandictionary.com/us/dictionary/american/of-

<u>course</u>) (Dec. 13, 2015) (numeration altered). Respondent argued below that this case falls under examples one (1) and two (2). Appellant-Petitioner argued that this case is most like example four (4). Even if Brar said something about not wanting to lose his license, that changes nothing in the consent analysis. No one wants to lose his or her license. Officer Wood presented Brar with a difficult choice, and Brar merely thought aloud about his options.

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