### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-13-2017

### IN SUPREME COUR FLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2015AP1261-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NAVDEEP S. BRAR,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JOHN W. MARKSON PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DAVID H. PERLMAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1002730

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves both a conceptual and factual divide between the parties. As to the conceptual dispute, Brar analyzes the issue of his submission to the blood test within

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ex. 25:2 is missing visual footage of "Brar" saying "of course" but the audio file of Brar saying "of course" is clearly heard. So, it is difficult to pinpoint where this moment occurs in the recording. By use of a stopwatch, Brar saying "of course" occurs approximately three minutes and sixteen seconds after 1:37:30 a.m., or approximately 1:40:46 a.m.

the rubric of Fourth Amendment consent jurisprudence. Towards that end, Brar claims, "At the outset, Appellant-Petitioner notes that this case has very little to do with the implied consent law." (Brar's Br. 17.) The State disagrees. This is decidedly an implied consent case, and the core issue is not whether Brar consented to the test under a Fourth Amendment analysis, as he had already consented when he chose to drive. The key issue is whether Brar submitted, or refused the test within the statutory context of Wis. Stat. § 343.305.

The factual dispute concerns what Brar said in response to being read the Form. The State's position is that Brar said "of course" and words akin to not wanting to lose his license, as Officer Wood testified. Brar's position is that he did not say "of course" and he further argues that the moment where he supposedly made this statement is inaudible in the tape. He supports his contention by pointing out that both the court transcription and his privately retained transcriber marked his comment as "inaudible." (Brar's Br. 19.) The State disagrees that the tape is inaudible because the words "of course" can be clearly heard in the recording. The trial court made a finding of fact that Brar said "of course," and the court of appeals affirmed this determination.

As will be argued below, Brar consented to the evidentiary chemical test when he applied for his license and when he decided to drive. After his arrest, Brar was advised that he could submit to the test, or refuse and be punished for that refusal. Ultimately Brar, both by word and conduct, submitted to the test.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. Brar had already consented to the blood draw prior to entering the Middleton Police Station to be read the Informing the Accused form.
  - A. Applicable legal principles as to the implied consent statute.

The right to refuse to submit to chemical tests in the OWI context is a statutory privilege and not a constitutional right. State v. Reitter, 227 Wis. 2d 213, 239, 595 N.W.2d 646 (1999). A subject's right to refuse a blood-alcohol test is simply a matter of grace bestowed by the Legislature and not a constitutional right. South Dakota v. Neville, 459 U.S. 553, 565 (1983). There is no constitutional right to refuse a bloodalcohol test. State v. Mallick, 210 Wis. 2d 427, 433, 565 N.W.2d 245 (Ct. App. 1997). Wisconsin clearly does not recognize a driver's right to refuse consent; rather, the driver's choice is to in effect recant the consent he had previously given when he applied for his license or decided to drive. State v. Albright, 98 Wis. 2d 663, 671, 298 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1980); State v. Wintlend, 2002 WI App 314, ¶ 16, 258 Wis. 2d 875, 655 N.W.2d 745. A driver in Wisconsin has no right to refuse to take a chemical test; by implying consent the statute removes any right a driver has to refuse the test. State v. Gibson, 2001 WI App 71, ¶ 9, 242 Wis. 2d 267, 626 N.W.2d 73; State v. Zielke, 137 Wis. 2d 39, 48, 403 N.W.2d 427 (1987).

The Wisconsin Legislature enacted the implied consent statute to facilitate the collection of evidence and not to enhance the rights of alleged drunk drivers. *Reitter*, 227 Wis. 2d at 223–25. The implied consent law was designed to secure convictions, and thus the statute should be interpreted liberally to accomplish this purpose. *Id.*; *State v. Crandall*, 133 Wis. 2d 251, 258, 394 N.W.2d 905 (1986). The purpose of

the implied consent law is to combat drunk driving by making it easier to collect evidence against accused drivers. *State v. Piddington*, 2001 WI 24, ¶ 17, 241 Wis. 2d 754, 623 N.W.2d 528. The legislative purpose of the implied consent law is to obtain blood-alcohol content to secure convictions; to facilitate the identification of drunken drivers and their removal from the highways. *Village of Elm Grove v. Brefka*, 2013 WI 54, ¶¶ 30–31, 348 Wis. 2d 282, 832 N.W.2d 121.

### B. The theory behind the implied consent law.

Wisconsin has long interpreted the implied consent statute as a tool for identifying drunk drivers and to facilitate their prosecutions. Accordingly, the statute is to be interpreted liberally to fulfill this purpose. The underpinning for the statute is that any person who "drives or operates a motor vehicle upon the public highways of this state . . . is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her breath, blood or urine." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2).

While the statute suggests the consent occurs when a person decides to drive the car, Wisconsin case law has typically opined that the consent occurs when the subject applied for a driver's license. See State v. Neitzel, 95 Wis. 2d 191, 193, 289 N.W.2d 828 (1980); Reitter, 227 Wis. 2d at 225. It does not really matter whether the implied consent occurs when the subject applies for his driver's license or when he decided to drive on the date he was arrested; either way, the driver consented before the Form phase of the investigation. The bargain had already been struck: a person enjoys the privilege of being allowed to drive in Wisconsin in exchange

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It makes sense to include the choice to drive as a moment of implied consent, to insure the statute's applicability to out-of-state drivers, and those drivers who never procured a driver's license.

for submitting to a chemical test, or refusing and being penalized for that refusal.

The subject's decision to place himself within the orbit of the implied consent statute is a voluntary choice. He can choose to get a license or not, to drive or not, and for whichever decision is made, the State will not impose a penalty. This consent is consistent with Fourth Amendment requirements, though the consent is implied and not expressed. So, at the time of the Form stage of the proceedings, the question is no longer whether the defendant is consenting to the test, but rather whether the subject will submit to the test he previously agreed to take, or recant his consent and face the adverse consequences of a refusal.

## C. The informing-the-accused environment is not a level playing field, and nor is it intended to be.

Brar imports Fourth Amendment consent principles into the Form phase of the OWI investigation. Brar writes, "The Supreme Court has set forth an objective test for determining whether a person has consented to a Fourth Amendment search" (Brar's Br. 21), and he asserts that "[c]ases from the Supreme Courts of the United States and Wisconsin are consistent in holding that the State's burden of proving consent by clear and convincing evidence 'cannot be discharged by showing no more than acquiescence to a claim of lawful authority." (Brar's Br. 24.) Brar's reliance on Fourth Amendment jurisprudence is misplaced. Brar had already consented to the chemical test before the Form phase, and that implied consent was not prodded by duress or coercion. This implied consent passes Fourth Amendment muster.

Brar incorporates Fourth Amendment principles into the Form phase of the investigation, but this phase, initiated

after Brar had already implied his consent to the test, implicates no Fourth Amendment safeguards. For examples, Wisconsin cases have consistently upheld the sanctions imposed on drivers who refuse the test, though the imposition of adverse ramifications for refusing consent is an anathema to Fourth Amendment consent principles. And this Court has written, "the determination of whether the law enforcement officer reasonably conveyed the implied consent warnings is based upon the objective conduct of [the] officer, rather than upon the comprehension of the accused driver." Piddington, 241 Wis. 2d 754, ¶ 21 (emphasis added). Prioritizing an officer's objective conduct over a subject's understanding is a non-starter in a Fourth Amendment consent analysis. Moreover, there is an extensive body of case law holding that the essence of Fourth Amendment consent is the citizen's constitutional right to deny permission for the intrusion, and yet there is an equally consistent line of cases holding that under the implied consent law a person has no constitutional right to refuse the test. So if Brar is correct, and Fourth Amendment consent principles govern the Form phase of the investigation, the prior case law on this issue would be obliterated leaving an impotent statute in its wake.

To be sure, a subject has a choice after being read the Form. But it is a Hobson's choice: take the test and produce evidence, or refuse and be punished for doing so. *See Wintlend*, 258 Wis. 2d 875, ¶ 19. The presence of this choice does not transform the Form stage of the proceeding into a new attempt to solicit Fourth Amendment consent. The time for negotiation, for asking for permission, is over. It is time for "yes or no," and either choice can benefit the State and potentially hurt the subject. This is not Fourth Amendment consent terrain; it is the statutory world of implied consent, a world the subject has entered through his own behavior. The injection of Fourth Amendment consent principles into the Form phase of the implied consent statute contradicts

Wisconsin and U.S. Supreme Court cases dealing with the law and would severely undermine the statute's critical role in combating the national problem of drunken driving.

# D. Neither *Missouri v. McNeely* nor *Birchfield* v. *North Dakota* represents a sea change in implied consent law.

The long-established law on implied consent is not altered by *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552 (2013), or *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 579 U.S.\_\_\_, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016).

McNeely is not an implied consent case. Although the facts of McNeely involved a refusal to take a chemical test, its rule of law, while adding significantly to Fourth Amendment jurisprudence, does not implicate implied consent law. The core holding in McNeely is that though alcohol dissipates somewhat quickly in the blood stream, this fact does not create an automatic exigent circumstance justifying the blood's warrantless seizure. The repercussion of this holding was significant, dramatically reducing the number of forced warrantless blood draws and overruling long-standing cases such as this Court's holding in State v. Bohling, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1993). But while as a practical matter, the McNeely ruling will frequently arise in the OWI arrest situation when a defendant refuses a blood test, the rule does not invalidate the procedure that prompted the refusal.

In an OWI context, there are either two or three steps pertinent to the collection of chemical test evidence, and *McNeely* implicates only the third. Step 1 is the implied consent that occurred either when the defendant applied for his driver's license, or chose to drive. Step 2 is the reading of the Form culminating in the yes or no question: will the

defendant submit to the test or recant his earlier given consent and face the consequences? If the defendant submits, the process is complete after two steps and the blood is drawn pursuant to the implied consent and the subsequent submission. If the defendant refuses, the State can impose the adverse consequences of that refusal, such as the revocation of license and other administrative penalties, and the ability to comment on the refusal at trial.

If the defendant refuses, a third step emerges, the phase for collecting the evidence the defendant refused to give. If the State wants a chemical test after the refusal, it obtains the evidence in conformity with the Fourth Amendment. *McNeely* then comes into play, requiring in most instances a search warrant before the blood can be seized. *McNeely* impacts only that third step. *McNeely* has no impact on the implied consent statute itself.

This reading of *McNeely* is not conjecture; the holding makes clear its support of implied consent statutory schemes:

As an initial matter, States have a broad range of legal tools to enforce their drunk-driving laws and to secure BAC evidence without undertaking warrantless nonconsensual blood draws. For example, all 50 States have adopted implied consent laws that require motorists, as a condition of operating a motor vehicle within the State, to consent to BAC testing if they are arrested or otherwise detained on suspicion of a drunkdriving offense. Such laws impose significant consequences when a motorist withdraws consent; the motorist's driver's immediately suspended or revoked, and most States allow the motorist's refusal to take a BAC test to be used as evidence against him in a subsequent criminal prosecution.

McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1566 (citation omitted).

Three years after *McNeely*, the U.S. Supreme Court revisited the blood draw issue in *Birchfield*. Unlike *McNeely*, *Birchfield* is an implied consent case, but it also does not affect Wisconsin's statutory implied consent law. *Birchfield* examined the issue of whether a person can be jailed for refusing a chemical test. The Court looked at the Fourth Amendment options available to the State in the event a defendant refuses. The Court opined that the State could search the breath incident to arrest, but would need a warrant to search blood. Thus, in cases where a subject refused a breath test, the imposition of a jail sentence as part of the penalty would be permissible, but incarceration would be impermissible for a refusal to submit to a blood test. *See Birchfield*, 136 S. Ct. at 2186.

*Birchfield*'s disallowance of criminal penalties for a refusal to give blood has no impact on our implied consent statute, which does not criminalize refusals, be it for breath or blood. *Birchfield* writes approvingly of implied consent statutes that trigger administrative sanctions in the event of a refusal:

Our prior opinions have referred approvingly to the general concept of implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to comply. Petitioners do not question the constitutionality of those laws, and nothing we say here should be read to cast doubt on them.

Birchfield, 136 S. Ct. at 2185 (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

And by endorsing a statute that criminalizes a breath test refusal, *Birchfield* further supports the State's contention that Fourth Amendment consent law is inapplicable during the Form stage of the proceedings: Fourth Amendment

consent principles cannot coexist with a statutory stage where a refusal can prompt a jail sentence.

# E. State v. Padley should not be authority to overrule all pre-existing Wisconsin and federal case law dealing with implied consent statutes.

Brar also turns to *State v. Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, 354 Wis. 2d. 545, 849 N.W.2d 867, to argue that recent case law has fundamentally altered established implied consent law. It has not.

In Padley, the court of appeals rejected a claim that Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar)2., which authorizes officers to request a sample from a person who operated a motor vehicle that is involved in an accident that caused death, great bodily harm, or substantial bodily harm, is unconstitutional. Padley, 354 Wis. 2d.545, ¶¶ 10,48,54,60. The court paused in its analysis of the case to address what it perceived to be confusion among the parties regarding the implied consent law. Id. ¶ 37. First, the court properly noted that when a person submits to a blood draw, he is not giving implied consent. Id. ¶ 38. The State agrees, for as argued above, the implied consent is given when the subject applies for the driver's license or when he chooses to drive. Second, the Padley court, again properly, noted that when a person refuses the test, he will have to accept the consequences of that choice. Id.

Third, and unfortunately, the *Padley* court tried to distinguish between implied consent when the person chose to drive, and what it termed *actual consent*, when the person decides to take the test. Id. ¶ 39. It is doubtful that the *Padley* court wanted its phrasing of "actual consent" for the "yes or no" stage after the reading of the Form to revolutionize how the implied consent law is to be interpreted, and to overrule

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